2000

McKesson Corp. [Employer], and C.W. Reese Co.  
[Insurance Carrier for Employer] v. Robert P.  
Lieberman, and the Utah Labor Commission :  
Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

**JURISDICTION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS**

This Petition for Review by appellants McKesson Corporation and C.W. Reese Company is from a final order of the Labor Commission of Utah dated August 30, 2000. This Court has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to Utah Code Annotated §§ 34A-2-801(8)(a), 63-46b-16, and 78-2a-3(2)(a) (2000).

**ISSUES PRESENTED AND STANDARDS OF REVIEW**

1. Whether the Commission applied the appropriate legal standard in analyzing this matter based upon proximate causation? This is a matter of law, reviewed for correctness, see below. This issue was preserved at R., 33-42.



2. If the Allen legal causation test is the correct standard to apply, whether Lieberman's act of forcefully jumping into his truck while grabbing the steering wheel meets the higher legal causation standard, thus relieving the McKesson of liability? The appropriate legal standard is correctness review; however, whether the claimant's activity meets the higher legal standard is reviewed for reasonableness and rationality. See AE Clevite, Inc. v. Labor Comm'n, 2000 UT App 35, ¶6, 388 Utah Adv. Rep. 21. This issue was preserved at R. 33-42, 65 p.26.
3. If the proximate causation test applies, whether the May 22<sup>nd</sup> non-industrial accident constitutes the direct and natural cause of the claimant's current medical condition so as to make the employer liable for workers' compensation benefits resulting from the non-industrial accident? This issue involves a legal matter, reviewed for correctness, see below. This issue was preserved at R. 33-42, 65 p. 5, 26.

### **Standard of Review**

These issues involve the interpretation and application of the Utah Workers' Compensation Act (the "Act"), section 34A-2-401 et. al. In Esquivel v. Labor Comm'n, 2000 UT 47, 396 Utah Adv. Rep. 3, the Court recently articulated the proper standard of review for administrative proceedings. It stated:

matters of statutory construction are questions of law, reviewed for correctness. . . . An exception to this general rule exists if the legislature has either explicitly or implicitly granted discretion to the agency. However, absent a grant of discretion, an agency's interpretation or application of a statutory term should be reviewed under the correction of error standard.

Id. at ¶¶13-14 (emphasis added). The court proceeded to hold that section 34A-1-301 does not give a broad grant of discretion to the Commission for questions of law, although subsection 301 gives the Commission discretion to determine the facts and apply the law in the chapter. See id. at ¶17.<sup>1</sup> Accordingly, because neither sections 34A-2-401 (the statute authorizing compensation) nor 34A-1-301 connote a general grant of discretion for determination of the correct legal standard to apply in this case, a matter of law, this Court should review the Labor Commission's ruling for correctness.

---

<sup>1</sup> This Court must affirm the Labor Commission's factual findings if it determines that the agency abused the discretion delegated to it by statute. See Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-4 (h)(i) (2000).

## DETERMINATIVE LAW

The determinative law is Utah Code Ann. § 34A-2-401 (2000) (Utah “Workers Compensation Act”), the provision authorizing workers’ compensation for industrial accidents. This section reads as follows:

An employee described in Section 34A-2-104 who is injured . . . by accident arising out of and in the course of the employee's employment, wherever such injury occurred, if the accident was not purposely self-inflicted, shall be paid . . . compensation for loss sustained on account of the injury . . . such amount for medical, nurse, and hospital services . . . [and] medicines . . . .

Utah Code Ann. § 34A-2-401 (2000).

The section emphasized above was interpreted by the Utah Supreme Court in Allen v. Industrial Commission, 729 P.2d 15, 18, 22-23 (Utah 1986), to require a claimant to prove both medical and legal causation. Particularly, “where a claimant suffers from a preexisting condition which contributes to the injury, an unusual or extraordinary exertion is required to prove legal causation. Where there is no preexisting condition, a usual or ordinary exertion is sufficient.” Id. at 26.

Under Utah law pre-dating Allen, the court stated that when there are two accidents, the claimant must show that industrial injury for which he seeks benefits is the direct and natural result of the disability (a.k.a., proximate causation). See Aetna Life Ins. v. Industrial Comm’n, 231 P. 442, 444 (Utah 1924); see also Mountain States Casing Serv. v. McKean, 706 P.2d 601, 602-03 (Utah 1985); Perchelli v. Utah Ind. Comm’n, 475 P.2d 835, 837-38 (Utah 1970); Fruehauf Trailer Co. v. Industrial Comm’n, 396 P.2d 409, 410 (Utah 1964).

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

### **Nature of the Case and Course of the Proceedings**

This case presents the question whether a September 25, 1995 industrial accident or a subsequent May 22, 1999 non-industrial accident is the legal and medical cause of Mr. Lieberman's need for surgery that arose after May 22, 1999 and his inability to work beginning about May 22, 1999.

Lieberman sustained an industrial injury while working for McKesson Corporation ("McKesson") on September 25, 1995 when a fourteen pound case of lotion fell on his head. On March 19, 1996, Lieberman underwent neck surgery. See R., 64 at p.5-7. On September 28, 1996, the parties entered into a Compensation Agreement confirming McKesson's payment of temporary total disability compensation (TTD) for the period of September 26, 1995 to September 18, 1996, permanent partial disability compensation (PPD), and medical expenses.

On July 3, 1997, Lieberman filed an Application for Hearing seeking additional TTD benefits from January 8, 1997 through April 28, 1997 and medical expenses. See R., 1-9. McKesson denied liability asserting that Lieberman's condition did not change after the Compensation Agreement. The ALJ agreed with Lieberman. On April 10, 1998 the ALJ ordered an additional award of benefits to Lieberman. Neither party appealed this order and McKesson paid the benefits ordered.

On May 22, 1999, Lieberman suffered a severe non-industrial (during non-work time) neck injury when he pulled on the steering wheel and jumped into his pickup truck striking his head on the door frame, knocking him out. See R., 65 p.13-14, 64 p.24B-E. As a direct consequence of the symptoms he immediately developed after the May 22<sup>nd</sup> accident, Dr. Robert Hood recommended removal of the hardware in his neck and a repeat fusion and plate fixation at C6-7. See R., 64 p.24D. McKesson denied liability for the medical care and lost time for work that resulted from the May 22<sup>nd</sup> accident on the ground that it was legally and medically caused by the May 22<sup>nd</sup> accident, not the September 25, 1995 accident. In support of this position, McKesson argued that had the May 22<sup>nd</sup> injury, occurred while in the course and scope of employment, it would constitute a new and compensable injury. See R., 65, p.5, 25-26.

On September 17, 1999, Lieberman filed a second application for hearing with the Labor Commission seeking medical care and TTD compensation arising after the May 22<sup>nd</sup> accident. See R., 1-9. In the application, Lieberman attributes his current medical condition to the September 1995 accident. McKesson filed an answer denying liability on the basis that the May 22<sup>nd</sup> accident was legally and medically responsible for Lieberman's current problems. See R., 12-13. A hearing on this matter was held before Administrative Law Judge Richard M. La Jeunesse on February 29, 2000. See R., 65. On May 24, 2000, the ALJ ruled that the September 25, 1995 accident was the cause for Lieberman's medical care and temporary total disability following the May 22<sup>nd</sup> accident. See R., 21-32; attachment A.

McKesson and its carrier filed a Motion for Review of the ALJ's order on June 21, 2000 with the Utah Labor Commission ("Commission"). See R. 33-42, attachment B. Lieberman, *pro se*, filed his response arguing that the intervening event on May 22<sup>nd</sup> was not the direct and natural cause for benefits he seeks. See R., 43-49; attachment C. On August 30, 2000, the Commission issued an order denying the Motion for Review, ruling in favor of Lieberman, affirming the award of workers' compensation benefits following the May 22<sup>nd</sup> non-industrial accident. See R. 51-55, attachment D.

McKesson and its carrier filed a Petition for Review with this court on September 18, 2000 seeking review from the final order of the Labor Commission. See R., 57-63. A Docketing Statement was filed on September 21, 2000.

### **Statement of Facts**

Robert Lieberman worked for McKesson, a drug company, as a warehouse person. During the course of his work activities on September 25, 1995 Lieberman attempted to lift a case of lotion off of a six-foot high shelf. See R., 1-9. While doing this, two cases tipped over and one fell onto his head. See R., 1-9. On March 19, 1996, Lieberman underwent a microsurgical anterior discectomy, decompression, allograft, fusion and plate fixation on his cervical spine at C5-6, C6-7. See R., 64 p.5-7.

McKesson accepted liability under the Utah Workers' Compensation Act (the "Act") for Lieberman's injuries resulting from the September 25, 1995 accident. It paid benefits accordingly. On September 28, 1996 the parties entered into a Compensation Agreement confirming McKesson's payment to Lieberman of 48.6 weeks of temporary total disability

compensation (TTD) for the period between September 26, 1995 and September 18, 1996. McKesson also agreed to pay Lieberman permanent partial impairment compensation (PPI) for 37 weeks and all medical expenses arising from this accident.<sup>2</sup>

Immediately before May 22, 1999, Lieberman was working full-time as a laborer. Lieberman was only having “minor problems” with his cervical spine. See R., 64, p.24A. Similarly, Dr. Hood observed on June 7, 1999 that Lieberman was “minimally symptomatic” until the May 22<sup>nd</sup> accident. See R., 64, p.24B.

On May 22, 1999, Lieberman was at home getting into his truck. He pulled on the steering wheel and jumped into his pickup truck, forcefully striking the vertex of his scalp on the door frame with such force that he was knocked to the ground and perhaps unconscious. See R., 65 p.12-14. Lieberman attempted unsuccessfully to return to work on May 24<sup>th</sup>. He was unable to perform his job duties because of his neck symptoms arising after the May 22<sup>nd</sup> accident. He has not worked since May 24, 1999.

Dr. Hood acknowledged that Lieberman hit his head “quite forcefully, stunning him with immediate worsening of his neck and upper back pain radiating down to the trapezii. He describes this now as a burning sensation. . . .” R. 64, p.24B. As a direct consequence

---

<sup>2</sup> Lieberman subsequently filed his first application for hearing on July 3, 1997 seeking additional TTD benefits from January 8, 1997 through April 28, 1997 and additional medical expenses arising from the September 1995 accident. McKesson filed its Answer, asserting that because Lieberman suffered no change after the compensation agreement, there was no basis to award additional compensation. The ALJ agreed with Lieberman.

of the symptoms that developed immediately after the May 22<sup>nd</sup> accident, Dr. Hood recommended surgery at the C6-7 level. See R.64, p.24D.

Lieberman sought coverage for the medical care and lost time from work resulting from the May 22<sup>nd</sup> injury. McKesson denied coverage for any injuries or lost time relating to the May 22<sup>nd</sup> accident on the ground that Lieberman's condition directly and naturally resulted from a new accident on May 22<sup>nd</sup>. On September 17, 1999, Lieberman filed an Application for Hearing seeking medical care and TTD compensation arising after the May 22<sup>nd</sup> accident. See R., 1-9.

On February 29, 2000 a hearing was held on this matter before Administrative Law Judge La Jeunesse. See R. 65. On May 24, 2000, the ALJ ruled that the September 25, 1995 accident was the legal cause for Lieberman's medical care and TTD following the May 22<sup>nd</sup> accident. See R., 21-32. McKesson filed a Motion for Review of this order with the Labor Commission on June 21, 2000 arguing that (1) Lieberman forcefully struck his head on May 22<sup>nd</sup>; (2) the May 22<sup>nd</sup> accident, if occurring during work time of another employer, would qualify as a compensable industrial accident, thereby fully relieving McKesson of liability; (3) alternatively, the subsequent injury constitutes an superceding event relieving McKesson of liability; and, (4) the consequences of the ALJ's order will lead to erroneous decisions in future cases. See R., 33-42.

On August 30, 2000, the Commission issued an order denying the McKesson's Motion for Review ruling in favor of Lieberman, awarding him workers' compensation benefits resulting from injuries arising from the May 22<sup>nd</sup> non-industrial accident. See R.,



51-55. Specifically, the Commission ruled that when there are two accidents and the second accident is not a quasi-course activity<sup>3</sup>, the second accident is responsible only when it results from the intentional or negligent conduct of the employee. See id. Applying this law, the Commission held that Lieberman's act of entering his pickup truck was not "negligent" so as to break the chain of causation between the September 1995 and the medical care and lost time occurring after the May 22<sup>nd</sup> accident. See id. Accordingly, the Commission held that the injuries for which Lieberman now seeks benefits are a "natural result" of his primary injury of September 1995 and are therefore compensable. See id.

On September 18, 2000, McKesson filed a Petition for Review from this final order. See R., 57-63.

---

<sup>3</sup> A "quasi-course activity" is one undertaken by an employee in furtherance of his medical care for the industrial accident such as trips to a doctor's office or for medicine.

## **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The Labor Commission erred in awarding Lieberman workers' compensation benefits arising from injuries following the May 22<sup>nd</sup> non-industrial accident. The Commission applied the wrong legal standard in this case when it applied the proximate causation test of cases pre-dating the Allen v. Industrial Commission decision. The proper legal test is the higher legal causation test articulated in Allen. Under this test, Lieberman's prior neck condition constitutes a pre-existing condition, triggering the higher legal causation standard. Accordingly, because Lieberman's act of forcefully grabbing the steering wheel and jumping into the vehicle is an unusual or unanticipated event, sufficient to satisfy the higher legal causation standard, see Green v. American Roofing, 752 P.2d 912 (Utah Ct. App. 1988), the necessary chain of causation is broken, relieving McKesson of liability. The fact that the second injury occurred in a non-work setting should not change the fact that the higher legal causation test must be applied in this instance.

Alternatively, even if the proximate causation test applies here, the Commission incorrectly applied the test in this case using essentially a "but for" causation analysis. Moreover, Lieberman's act of jumping into his pickup truck, with full knowledge of his medical limitations, is not a direct and natural consequence of the September 25, 1995 injury. Lieberman's own misconduct does not arise from a "quasi course activity" such as receiving medical treatment and instead, constitutes an intervening, superceding event that breaks the chain of causation. If the proximate causation analysis should apply, Lieberman's

carelessness constitutes negligence, breaking the chain of causation, therefore relieving McKesson of liability.

The Commission's ruling constitutes legal error and must be reversed and remanded for a determination of whether, under these facts, the higher legal causation standard is met here. Alternatively, this Court should apply the proximate causation test and reverse the Commission's ruling.

### **ARGUMENT**

#### **THE LABOR COMMISSION ERRONEOUSLY CONCLUDED THAT LIEBERMAN WAS ENTITLED TO WORKERS' COMPENSATION BENEFITS ARISING FROM THE MAY 22<sup>ND</sup> NON-INDUSTRIAL ACCIDENT**

1. **The Commission applied the wrong legal standard in analyzing this matter based upon proximate causation and negligence.**

Petitioners respectfully submit that the Labor Commission applied the wrong legal standard in analyzing this workers' compensation matter.

Under Utah's Workers Compensation Act, a person is entitled to workers' compensation benefits if he proves by a preponderance of the evidence that he is an employee that was injured by accident arising out of and in the course of the his employment. See Utah Code Ann. § 34A-2-401 (2000).<sup>4</sup> The "arising out of" and "in the

---

<sup>4</sup> This section provides in relevant part:

An employee described in Section 34A-2-104 who is injured . . . by accident arising out of and in the course of the employee's employment, wherever such injury occurred, if the accident was not purposely self-inflicted, shall be paid . . . compensation for loss sustained on account of the injury . . . such amount for

course of employment” language of section 34A-2-401 has been interpreted by the Utah Supreme Court to require that the medical condition for which the claimant is seeking workers’ compensation is the medical and legal cause of the claimed industrial injury. See Allen v. Industrial Comm’n, 729 P.2d 15 (Utah 1986) (leading case requiring establishment of legal and medical causation before benefits are awardable to a claimant).

Utah appellate cases decided after the Allen decision state that proximate causation is used primarily in tort law and “is not appropriate for workers’ compensation cases.” Large v. Industrial Comm’n, 758 P.2d 954, 956 (Utah Ct. App. 1988) (stating “although proximate causation is not an appropriate standard, the Utah Supreme Court has, nevertheless, required proof of a causal relationship to awarding workers’ compensation benefits”); Stokes v. Board of Rev. of Ind. Comm’n, 832 P.2d 56 (Utah Ct. App. 1992) (proof of proximate cause and fault are not required in workers’ compensation cases). This is because proximate causation involves the analysis of foreseeability, negligence, and intervening causes which are not present in the workers’ compensation system, which normally excludes considerations of fault. See Large, 758 P.2d at 956; see also 99 C.J.S. Workmen’s Compensation §10 (stating “the principles applicable in torts, such as the concept of proximate causation or the effect of independent or intervening cause . . . have no application to workmen’s compensation claims”).

---

medical, nurse, and hospital services . . . [and] medicines . . . .  
Utah Code Ann. § 34A-2-401 (2000).

In this case, the Commission awarded workers' compensation benefits for injuries resulting from the May 22<sup>nd</sup> non-industrial accident. In so ruling, the Commission concluded that Lieberman's act of getting into his pickup truck did not constitute fault and/or "negligence." The Labor Commission stated:

the chain of causation may be broken by either intentional or negligent claimant misconduct. As to what constitutes negligence for purposes of the foregoing standard often takes the form of rashly undertaking a line of action with knowledge of the risk created by the weakened member. . . . Next it is necessary to determine whether Mr. Lieberman's act of getting into his pickup was "negligent" so as to break the chain of causation between his work accident of September 25, 1995, and his current injuries. . . . The Appeals Board concludes Mr. Lieberman was not negligent . . . .

Based upon Large and Stokes it is evident that the Commission erred in selecting the appropriate law to apply to this matter. The Commission improperly selected and applied the law pre-dating the Allen decision. McKesson urges this Court to vacate the Commission's legal conclusion on this matter and apply the correct law articulated below.

**2. The proper legal standard to apply in analyzing the legal effect of the May 22<sup>nd</sup> accident is the Allen higher legal causation test.**

As previously stated, the correct legal standard applicable in Utah workers' compensation matters after the 1986 Allen decision is not based upon proximate causation or employee negligence. See Large, *supra*; Stokes; *supra*. Rather, the appropriate legal standard requires the Allen analysis of legal causation. Specifically, where a claimant suffers from a pre-existing condition which a second accident exacerbates, the second accident is the legal cause of the exacerbation if the second accident meets the Allen higher legal

causation standard. See Allen, 729 P.2d at 26; Green v. American Roofing, 752 P.2d 912, 914-15 (Utah Ct. App. 1988) (holding extraordinary exertion when bucket unexpectedly snagged). Based upon Allen and its progeny, the higher legal causation test is the appropriate way to determine whether the May 22<sup>nd</sup> accident is legally responsible for Lieberman's medical care and lost work time that followed the May 22<sup>nd</sup> accident.

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