2000

McKesson Corp. [Employer], and C.W. Reese Co.  
[Insurance Carrier for Employer] v. Labor  
Commission of Utah and Robert P. Lieberman :  
Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Section 34A-2-401(1) of the Act requires payment of medical and disability benefits to workers "injured by accident arising out of and in the course of" their employment. In this case, Mr. Lieberman suffered a compensable work-related injury while employed by McKesson. He then exacerbated that work-related injury in a subsequent non-work accident. The ultimate question before this Court is whether Mr. Lieberman, who has received benefits for his primary work-related injury, is also entitled to additional benefits for the subsequent non-work exacerbation of that injury.

McKesson argues, incorrectly, that Mr. Lieberman's claim for benefits for the exacerbation of his work-related injuries should be judged under the test for legal causation set forth in Allen v. Industrial Commission, 729 P.2d 15 (Utah 1986). The Allen test for legal causation determines the compensability of a **primary** work accident; the Allen test

is not properly applied in a case such as this, where the issue is the compensability of a non-work **exacerbation** of the compensable primary injury.

While the Allen test does not apply to Mr. Lieberman's current claim, prior decisions of Utah's appellate courts have set out the test that does apply. The courts have held secondary injuries to be compensable if they are the "direct and natural result" of a compensable primary injury. Intermountain Health Care v. Industrial Commission, 839 P.2d 841 (Utah App. 1992)

In applying the "direct and natural result" test to Mr. Lieberman's claim, the Appeals Board relied on uncontroverted medical evidence that Mr. Lieberman's initial work accident left him with a failed cervical fusion. This failed cervical fusion was then exacerbated by a non-work accident. The uncontroverted medical evidence also established a medically demonstrable causal relationship between Mr. Lieberman's primary work-related accident and his current symptoms. The Appeals Board also carefully considered the circumstances and conditions of Mr. Lieberman's non-work accident and found that Mr. Lieberman's actions were not negligent so as to cut the chain of causation between his primary work injuries and the subsequent exacerbation of those injuries.

In summary, the Appeals Board applied the correct legal standard to the uncontroverted facts of Mr. Lieberman's claim. Consistent with the long-established principle that the Utah Workers' Compensation Act is to be liberally construed in favor of

compensation, the Appeals Board reasonably concluded that Mr. Lieberman's current injuries are compensable as the direct and natural result of his earlier work-related injury.

## **ARGUMENT**

### **POINT ONE: THE WORKERS' COMPENSATION ACT IS LIBERALLY CONSTRUED IN FAVOR OF COMPENSATION.**

The Utah Workers' Compensation Act is liberally construed in favor of coverage and compensation. In Chandler v. Industrial Commission, 184 P. 1020, 1021 (Utah 1919), decided only a few years after enactment of the Utah Employers' Liability Act (predecessor to the Utah Workers' Compensation Act), the Utah Supreme Court applied this principle of liberal construction, stating: "Upon the question that the Employers' Liability Act should be liberally construed so as to effectuate its purposes, all courts agree." (Citation omitted.)

After Chandler, Utah's appellate courts continued to apply the principle. For example, in Park Utah Consol. Mines v. Industrial Commission, 84 Utah 841, 36 P.2d 979, 981 (Utah 1934), the Utah Supreme Court stated:

If there is any doubt "respecting the right to compensation, such doubt should be resolved in favor of the employee or of his dependents as the case may be."  
(Citing Chandler v. Industrial Commission, *supra*.)

Likewise, in Maryland Cas. Co. v. Industrial Comm., 12 Utah 2d 223, 364 P.2d 1020, 1022 (Utah 1961), the Utah Supreme Court explained the policy reasons behind the principle of liberal construction:

These purposes inhere in (the Act): that injuries suffered in employment should be spread throughout and be borne by industry; and that compensation should be provided to alleviate economic hardship falling on injured workers

and their dependents, which in turn has a beneficial effect in stabilizing the economy. . .

To accomplish its salutary purposes, the Act should be liberally construed in favor of coverage of the claimant.

More recently, in Heaton v. Second Injury Fund, 796 P.2d 676, 679 (Utah 1990), the

Court stated:

It is the duty of the courts and the commission to construe the Workers' Compensation Act liberally and in favor of employee coverage when statutory terms reasonably admit of such a construction.

Recently, both the Utah Supreme Court and this Court have reaffirmed the continued vitality of the principle of liberal construction: See Olsen v. Samuel McIntyre Inv. Co. 956 P.2d 257 at 260 (Utah 1998); see also Burgess v. Siaperas Sand & Gravel, 965 P.2d 583, 588 (Utah App. 1998).

So, for the last 80 years, Utah's appellate courts have enforced "the common law principle of liberal construction in favor of injured employees that is at the heart of the Act." Burgess, 965 P.2d at 588.

The Commission recognizes that this principle of liberal construction does not mean that compensation should be allowed in every claim. Walls v. Industrial Commission, 857 P.2d 964, (Utah App. 1993). However, in cases such as Mr. Lieberman's, where a natural and direct connection exists between his employment at McKesson and the injuries for which he seeks compensation, the principle of liberal construction supports the Commission's conclusion that Mr. Lieberman is entitled to compensation.

**POINT TWO: UNDER PRIOR DECISIONS OF UTAH'S APPELLATE COURTS, MR. LIEBERMAN'S NON-WORK INJURY IS COMPENSABLE IF IT IS THE DIRECT AND NATURAL RESULT OF A COMPENSABLE PRIMARY INJURY.**

There is no dispute that Mr. Lieberman is entitled to workers' compensation benefits for injury to his cervical spine arising from his work-related accident at McKesson on September 25, 1995. What is in dispute is Mr. Lieberman's right to additional benefits for the exacerbation of his cervical spine injury that resulted when he hit his head on the door frame of his pickup truck. This Court is asked to determine the proper standard to be applied in adjudicating Mr. Lieberman's current claim for additional benefits.

This is not an entirely new issue. 1 *Larson's Workers' Compensation Law*, §10.01 ("Direct and Natural Consequence Rule") has compiled decisions on the issue and arrived at following conclusion:

A distinction must be observed between causation rules affecting the primary injury . . . and causation rules that determine how far the range of compensable consequences is carried, once the primary injury is causally connected with the employment. . . . But when the question is whether compensability should be extended to a subsequent injury or aggravation related in some way to the primary injury, the rules that come into play are essentially based upon the concepts of "**direct and natural results**," and of the claimant's own conduct as an independent intervening cause.

(Emphasis added.)

This Court's decision in Intermountain Health Care, 839 P.2 841, also identifies the "direct and natural result" standard as applicable to claims such as Mr. Lieberman's. In that case, Taylor, the applicant, injured her back while working for Intermountain Health Care

("IHC"). IHC accepted liability and paid workers' compensation benefits. Two years after her primary accident, Taylor experienced severe pain when, while at home, she attempted to lift her grandchild. IHC refused to pay additional workers' compensation benefits on the grounds that the injuries Taylor experienced after her non-work accident were not sufficiently related to her earlier work accident.

This Court rejected IHC's argument and affirmed the Commission's award of benefits, stating:

We do not agree with IHC that the correct standard for determining employer liability for subsequent injuries occurring after an industrial injury essentially amounts to a "but for" analysis. In *Mountain States Casing Servs. v. McKean*, 706 P.2d 601 (Utah 1985), the Utah Supreme Court stated that "[a] subsequent injury is compensable if it is found to be a *natural result* of a compensable primary injury." *Id.* at 602 (emphasis added). A claimant "is not required to show that his original tragedy was the sole cause of a subsequent injury, but only that the initial work-related accident was a *contributing cause*" of the subsequent injury. *Id.* (Emphasis added). *McKean* and *Perchelli* both draw from Larson's statement of the general rule regarding workers' compensation, which provides in pertinent part:

The basic rule is that a subsequent injury, whether an aggravation of the original injury or a new and distinct injury, is compensable if it is the direct and natural result of a compensable primary injury. (Citing 1 Larson, *Workmen's Compensation Law*, §13.11 (1992).

Intermountain Health Care, 839 at 845.

Thus, this Court's decision in Intermountain Health Care answers the fundamental question raised in McKesson's petition for review. Mr. Lieberman's subsequent injury is compensable if it is the direct and natural result of his compensable primary injury.

**POINT THREE: THE ALLEN TEST FOR LEGAL CAUSATION DOES NOT APPLY TO MR. LIEBERMAN'S CURRENT CLAIM.**

McKesson argues that Mr. Lieberman's claim must be evaluated under the standards for legal causation set forth in Allen v. Industrial Commission, 729 P.2d at 25. However, McKesson's argument is unsupported by the Allen decision itself and is inconsistent with post-Allen precedent.

The Allen decision: The Allen decision is a seminal case in Utah's workers' compensation jurisprudence. But in defining the term "accident" and establishing the requirements of medical and legal causation, the Allen court defined the standards to be applied to a worker's **primary** injuries. The issue now before this Court--the compensability of a worker's exacerbation of a work-related injury, was not considered in Allen.

The difference between the issues presented in Allen and the issue presented in Mr. Lieberman's claim is important. In the words of Professor Larson: "A distinction must be observed between causation rules affecting the primary injury . . . and causation rules that determine how far the range of compensable consequences is carried, once the primary injury is causally connected with the employment." 1 *Larson's Workers' Compensation Law*, §10.01. The Allen decision sets forth standards applicable to the former question; this Court's decision in Intermountain Health Care, 839 P.2d 841, addresses the latter question.

Post- Allen precedent: McKesson argues that the Allen decision, issued in 1986, changed Utah law for determining whether a subsequent injury is compensable following



a compensable primary injury. Specifically, at page 14 of its initial brief, McKesson contends “(t)he Commission improperly selected and applied the law pre-dating the Allen decision.” However, McKesson itself has failed to address, or even cite, this Court’s decision in Intermountain Health Care,<sup>2</sup> issued six years **after** the Allen decision and directly relevant to the facts of Mr. Lieberman’s claim.

In fact, McKesson has not identified any post-Allen decisions which have applied the Allen test of legal causation to cases such as Mr. Lieberman’s. The Commission submits that appellate precedent represented by this Court’s decision in Intermountain Health Care provides the proper standard for adjudication of Mr. Lieberman’s claim.

**POINT FOUR: THE COMMISSION REASONABLY CONCLUDED THAT THE EXACERBATION OF MR. LIEBERMAN’S CERVICAL SPINE INJURY WAS THE NATURAL AND DIRECT RESULT OF HIS PRIMARY WORK-RELATED INJURY.**

As noted above, this Court has previously held that a subsequent injury is compensable if it is the “direct and natural result” of a compensable primary injury. In Intermountain Health Care, 839 P.2d at 846, this Court explained the manner in which the “direct and natural result” should be applied. “The applicable test includes an analysis of the facts surrounding the subsequent injury and analysis of the connection between the subsequent injury and original compensable injury.”

With respect to Mr. Lieberman’s claim, the ALJ’s findings of fact, adopted by the Commission, sets out the circumstances surrounding Mr. Lieberman’s injuries.<sup>2</sup> On

---

<sup>2</sup>

The ALJ’s decision is attached as Addendum A. The following statements of fact are found

September 25, 1995, while Mr. Lieberman was working for McKesson, a case of lotion weighing 14 pounds fell on his head. Dr. Hood diagnosed Mr. Lieberman's injuries from the accident as a herniated intervertebral disc at the C6-7 level and spondylosis at the C5-6 level.

On March 19, 1996, Dr. Hood performed surgery on Mr. Lieberman's cervical spine, including microsurgical anterior discectomy, decompression, allograft. fusion and plate fixation. However, Mr. Lieberman continued to suffer neck pain and stiffness. Ultimately, it was determined that Mr. Lieberman had suffered a non-union of the attempted cervical fusion. He continued to experience progressive neck pain with periods of temporary total disability from his industrial accident.

Then, on May 22, 1999, as Mr. Lieberman was entering his pickup truck at his home, he forcefully hit the top of his head on the door frame. The blow stunned him and he fell to his knees. When Mr. Lieberman hit his head on his pickup door, he exacerbated his pre-existing cervical spine injury. In the words of Dr. Chung: "This nonunion pre-existed the 5-20-99 home incident. In my opinion it is reasonable to assume the 5-20-99 home incident exacerbated his pre-existing cervical spine condition." (See R.65, Medical Records Exhibit, Tab #8, page12 U) Dr. Hood agreed. "There was a non-union of the fusion. About 5-20-99 patient bumped his head which caused exacerbation of the symptoms related to the non-union." (S. R. 65, Medical Records Exhibit, Tab #10, page 24 E) Dr. Hood further concluded that a medically demonstrative causal relationship exists between Mr.

Lieberman's current medical problems and his work-related injuries of September 25, 1995, and has recommended additional surgery to remove the old hardware associated with the failed fusion and to make another effort to accomplish the fusion. (R. 65, Medical Record Exhibit, Tab #10, page 24 E)

In summary, it was Mr. Lieberman's primary work-related accident at McKesson that required the first attempt to surgically fuse his cervical spine. That first fusion attempt failed. The incident of May 22, 1999, when Mr. Lieberman hit his head on his pickup door, merely exacerbated the symptoms of an already-failed fusion.

McKesson argues that Mr. Lieberman was negligent for hitting his head on his pickup door, thereby breaking the chain of causation between his work-related accident and his current injuries. The Appeals Board addressed that argument in its decision denying McKesson's motion for review:

In Larson's Workers' Compensation Law, §10.15, p. 10-12, Professor Larson reviews decisions from several states, including Utah, and concludes the following test should be applied to claims such as Mr. Lieberman's:

When . . . the injury following the initial compensable injury does not arise out of a quasi-course activity, . . . the chain of causation may be deemed broken by either intentional or negligent claimant misconduct.

As to what constitutes "negligence" for purposes of the foregoing standard, Professor Larson indicates it "often takes the form of rashly undertaking a line of action with knowledge of the risk created by the weakened member." Larson at §10-06(3), p. 10-18.

. . . .

Next, it is necessary to determine whether Mr. Lieberman's action in getting into his pickup was "negligent" so as to break the chain of causation

between his work accident of September 25, 1995, and his current injuries. There is no indication that Mr. Lieberman acted in a rash or foolhardy manner in entering his pickup; rather, the event appears to be a simple accident brought on by ordinary error or unintentional miscalculation. The Appeals Board concludes Mr. Lieberman was not negligent and that his non-work accident in 1999 does not break the chain of causation between his 1995 work accident and his current injuries.

As noted by the Appeals Board, when Mr. Lieberman hit his head on May 22, 1999, he was not behaving in a foolhardy manner, nor was he undertaking a rash act. Rather, he was attempting to perform the ordinary task of entering and sitting in the driver's seat of a pickup truck, a task perhaps made more difficult by the work-related cervical injuries Mr. Lieberman had suffered. It is not uncommon for any individual, even those without cervical injuries, to bump their heads on shelves, cabinet doors, or automobile door frames. Such accidents do not necessarily establish negligence.